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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT OF NORTH CAROLINA

CIVIL ACTION NUMBER 17-CV-540
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -x

AMY MORGAN, TERRI SMITH, ERIN
HARRIS,

Plaintiffs,

- against -

THE CHARLOTTE-MECKLENBURG
HOSPITAL AUTHORITY d/b/a NORTHEAST
PHYSICIAN NETWORK and CAROLINAS
HEALTHCARE SYSTEM,

Defendants.

:
:
:
:
:
:
:
:
:
:
:
:
:

COMPLAINT

Jury Trial Demanded

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -x

Plaintiffs Amy Morgan, Terri Smith, and Erin Harris (“Plaintiffs”), upon their

own personal knowledge, state and allege as follows:

INTRODUCTION

1. This action seeks redress for violations of the Equal Pay Act of 1963

(“EPA”).   Plaintiffs are physicians employed by The Charlotte-Mecklenburg Hospital

Authority d/b/a NorthEast Physician Network (“CMHA”), an affiliate of Carolinas

Healthcare System (“CHS”) (collectively, “Defendants”).  CHS and its affiliates,

including CMHA, have engaged in a pattern and practice of paying its female physicians

less than its male physicians.  This case represents a flagrant example of CMHA’S and

CHS’ unlawful pay practices.

2. Plaintiffs, three licensed and fully qualified pediatric hospitalists, were

paid substantially less than their male counterparts.  In some instances, Plaintiffs were

paid less as a pediatric hospitalist than male subordinates, who certain Plaintiffs

supervised.
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3. Plaintiffs repeatedly complained internally about the unlawful pay

practices alleged in this action. Neither CMHA nor CHS did anything to remedy its

unlawful conduct.  As a result, Plaintiffs have given contractual notice of their intent to

resign from employment.

4. There is no justification for CMHA and CHS’ decision to pay its female

physicians less than their male physician counterparts.

5. Plaintiffs seek actual, compensatory, liquidated, statutory, and punitive

damages, attorneys’ fees and costs, and all damages provided for or permitted under any

applicable statute or law.

THE PARTIES

Plaintiff Amy Morgan

6. Plaintiff, Dr. Amy Morgan, is an adult individual residing in Cabarrus

County, North Carolina.

7. Dr. Morgan is currently employed as a pediatric hospitalist for

Defendants.

8. At all relevant times, Dr. Morgan was a covered employee under the EPA.

Plaintiff Terri Smith

9. Plaintiff, Dr. Terri Smith, is an adult individual residing in Cabarrus

County, North Carolina.

10. Dr. Smith is currently employed as a pediatric hospitalist for Defendants.

11. At all relevant times, Dr. Smith was a covered employee under the EPA.
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Plaintiff Erin Harris

12. Plaintiff, Dr. Erin Harris, is an adult individual residing in Cabarrus

County, North Carolina.

13. Dr. Harris is currently employed as a pediatric hospitalist for Defendants.

14. At all relevant times, Dr. Harris was a covered employee under the EPA.

Defendant Charlotte Mecklenburg Hospital Authority

15. Defendant CMHA is an entity with its principal place of business in

Charlotte, North Carolina.

16. CMHA conducts substantial business in North Carolina, including in this

District.

17. Defendant’s operations are within the stream of interstate commerce.

18. At all relevant times, CMHA was Plaintiffs’ employer, and maintained

control, oversight, and direction over Plaintiffs, including but not limited to, hiring,

firing, disciplining, timekeeping, payroll, and other employment practices.

19. At all relevant times, Defendant was a covered employer under the EPA.

Upon information and belief, Defendant employees in excess of fifty (50) employees.

Defendant Carolinas Healthcare System

20. Carolinas Healthcare System is a hospital network which operates

hospitals and other medical practices in North Carolina and South Carolina.  Upon

information and belief, CHS has over 60,000 employees and is one of the largest

employers in the state of North Carolina.
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21. CHS is an affiliate of, and has operating control over, CMHA. Upon

information and belief, officers, directors, and managers of CMHA report to officers,

directors, and managers of CHS.

22. Upon information and belief, CHS maintains control, oversight, and

direction over CMHA’s employment and payroll practices, including with respect to

hiring, firing, disciplining, timekeeping, pay, payroll, and other employment practices.

23. Upon information and belief, CHS dictates the policies and procedures of

CMHA, both with respect to employment matters and operational matters, such as the

operation of CMHA’s hospital.

24. Upon information and belief, monies paid to CMHA flow up to CHS and

are included on the balance sheet, profit and loss statement, and/or income statement of

CHS.

25. CMHA and CHS have intermingled their employees, operations, and

management.  Upon information and belief, CHS participated in the unlawful payroll

practices and decisions complained of in this action.

26. CHS is a “joint employer” of Plaintiff under applicable law.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

27. This action arises under federal statues including the EPA, 29 U.S.C. §206

et. seq. The court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 29 U.S.C. §216(b) and 28

U.S.C. §1331 because the claims brought herein constitute a federal question under the

laws of the United States.

28. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1391 because

Plaintiffs reside in this District, the Defendants do business in this District, and a
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substantial number of the unlawful employment practices were committed, and the

relevant employment records are maintained, in this District.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

29. Dr. Morgan began her employment with Defendants on or about August

1999.

30. Dr. Smith began her employment with Defendants on or about October

1999.

31. Dr. Harris began her employment with Defendants on or about August

2007.

32. At all relevant times, Plaintiffs were qualified for their positions.

33. At all relevant times, Plaintiffs maintained all applicable licenses,

certifications, and other qualifications necessary to be employed as pediatric hospitalists.

34. Plaintiffs performed their jobs in a satisfactory fashion and up to or

exceeding the expectations of their employer.

35. No Plaintiff ever received any write-ups, discipline, performance

improvement plans, or other negative performance reviews or assessments.

36. Despite their qualifications and performance, Plaintiffs were paid

substantially less than similarly situated male employees.  Male pediatric hospitalists,

including those in Plaintiffs’ medical group, were paid substantially more than Plaintiffs

despite having similar or less qualifications and/or experience than Plaintiffs.

37. Dr. Morgan, for example, was the Medical Director for CMHA.  In that

role, she supervised other pediatric hospitalists in the medical group, including Dr. James

High.

Case 3:17-cv-00540-GCM   Document 1   Filed 09/11/17   Page 5 of 12



6

38. Dr. Morgan has been practicing medicine for approximately five years

longer than Dr. High. Dr. Morgan has been a pediatric hospitalist for approximately 3

years longer than Dr. High.

39. Dr. Morgan is significantly more qualified than Dr. High, as evidenced by

the fact that, among other things, she supervised Dr. High during her employment.

40. Despite these facts, Dr. High was paid substantially more than Dr. Morgan

for his services as a pediatric hospitalist.

41. Dr. High was paid substantially more than Dr. Morgan as a pediatrict

hospitalist because Dr. High is a male and Dr. Morgan is a female.

42. The disparity in pay between Dr. Morgan and Dr. High is emblematic of

CMHA and CHS’ pattern and practice of paying female physicians less than similarly

situated, or even less qualified, male physicians.

43. There is no reasonable, rationale, or justifiable basis for paying Dr. High

more than Dr. Morgan.

44. Dr. Smith is a pediatric hospitalist for CMHA and CHS, the same position

as Dr. High.

45. Dr. Smith has been practicing medicine for approximately 2 years longer

than Dr. High. Dr. Smith has been a pediatric hospitalist for approximately 2 years

longer than Dr. High.

46. Dr. Smith is significantly more qualified than Dr. High.

47. Despite these facts, Dr. High was paid substantially more than Dr. Smith.

48. Dr. High was paid substantially more than Dr. Smith because Dr. High is a

male and Dr. Smith is a female.

Case 3:17-cv-00540-GCM   Document 1   Filed 09/11/17   Page 6 of 12



7

49. The disparity in pay between Dr. Smith and Dr. High is emblematic of

CMHA and CHS’ pattern and practice of paying female physicians less than similarly

situated, or even less qualified, male physicians.

50. There is no reasonable, rationale, or justifiable basis for paying Dr. High

more than Dr. Smith.

51. Dr. Harris is a pediatric hospitalist for CMHA and CHS, the same position

as Dr. High.

52. Dr. Harris has been practicing pediatric hospitalist medicine for

approximately the same number of years as Dr. High.

53. Dr. Harris is as qualified as Dr. High for the position of pediatric

hospitalist.

54. Despite these facts, Dr. High was paid substantially more than Dr. Harris.

55. Dr. High was paid substantially more than Dr. Harris because Dr. High is

a male and Dr. Harris is a female.

56. The disparity in pay between Dr. Harris and Dr. High is emblematic of

CMHA and CHS’ pattern and practice of paying female physicians less than similarly

situated, or even less qualified, male physicians.

57. There is no reasonable, rationale, or justifiable basis for paying Dr. High

more than Dr. Harris.

58. Upon information and belief, other similarly situated male pediatric and

general hospitalists besides Dr. High were paid more than Plaintiffs on account of their

gender.
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59. In addition, male physicians were treated more favorably than Plaintiffs in

other terms and conditions of their employment.  For example, Plaintiffs were made to

cover downtown (and less favorable) shifts more often than similarly situated male

physicians, including Dr. High.

60. Plaintiffs repeatedly complained to their superiors about the unlawful pay

practices alleged in this action.

61. For example, on or about February 13, 2017, Dr. Harris complained to Dr.

Dodds about the unlawful pay practices set forth in this action.

62. Dr. Dodds did not take any action to correct Defendants’ unlawful pay

practices in response to these complaints.

63. Neither CMHA nor CHS did anything to remedy their unlawful pay

practices.

64. Having received no redress after complaining about Defendants’ unlawful

pay practices, Plaintiffs all recently gave notice of their intent not to renew their

contracts.

65. As such, Plaintiffs will be resigning their employment later this year.

66. Plaintiffs lost a considerable amount of compensation and other benefits as

a result of the unlawful practices complained of in this action.

67. In addition, Defendants’ unlawful conduct had a deleterious impact on

Plaintiffs’ future earning potential because it is not uncommon in this industry for

potential new employers to consider past compensation when making offers of

employment.

68. Defendants’ unlawful conduct was willful and without justification.
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69. Defendants’ unawful conduct was the proximate and but for cause of

Plaintiff’s damages.

70. Defendants’ conduct was done in reckless disregard of Plaintiff’s federally

protected rights.

71. As a result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, Plaintiff is entitled to actual,

compensatory, liquidated, statutory, and punitive damages, pre-judgment and post-

judgment interest, reasonable attorneys’ fees and the costs of the action, and such other,

further, and different relief as the Court deems just and proper.

Reserved

72. The unlawful actions complained of in this action also constitute

violations of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964.  Plaintiffs have filed or will file

charges of discrimination with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission and may

seek to amend this Complaint to bring Title VII claims against Defendants after

exhausting their administrative remedies before the EEOC.

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
VIOLATION OF THE FAIR LABOR STANDARDS ACT OF 1938 AS AMENDED

BY THE EQUAL PAY ACT OF 1963, 29 U.S.C. §206 et. seq.

73. Plaintiffs reallege and reiterate the allegations contained in all preceding

paragraphs.

74. Defendants have violated the Equal Pay Act of 1963 by providing

Plaintiffs with lower pay and compensation than similarly situated male employees on the

basis of their gender, female, even though Plaintiffs performed similar duties requiring

the same skill, effort, qualifications, and responsibility as their male counterparts.
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75. Defendants subjected Plaintiffs to discriminatory pay practices and

discrimination in connection with the ancillary benefits and other terms of employment in

violation of the EPA.

76. Plaintiffs were not paid less than their male counterparts on the basis of

seniority, merit, quantity, or quality of production, or a factor other than sex, but were

paid less due to their gender.

77. Defendants were the cause of the unlawful conduct complained of in this

action.

78. The foregoing conduct constitutes a willful violation of the EPA within

the meaning of that statute.  A three-year statute of limitations applies to Plaintiffs’

claims.

79. As a result of Defendants’ conduct as alleged in this Complaint, Plaintiffs

have suffered and continue to suffer harm, including but not limited to, lost earnings, lost

benefits, and other financial loss, and are entitled to statutory, liquidated and other

damages.

80. Defendant’s unlawful conduct as described in this Complaint has been

willful and intentional.  Defendant was aware of should have been aware that the

employment practices it undertook as described in this Complaint were unlawful.

Defendant has not made a good faith effort to comply with the EPA.

81. As a result of Defendants’ willful and intentional conduct, Plaintiff has

suffered damages and is entitled to all damages claimed in this action.
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court grant Plaintiffs the

following relief:

(a) actual and compensatory damages for lost wages, benefits, entitlements,

and all other damages suffered as a result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct;

(b) actual and compensatory damages;

(c) liquidated damages;

(d) statutory damages;

(e) punitive damages;

(f) all damages allowable by law, statute or regulation;

(g) pre-judgment and post-judgment interest;

(h) reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs of the action;

(i) nominal damages, if other monetary damages are not awarded; and

(j) all such other, further, or different relief as the Court deems just, proper,

or equitable.
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JURY TRIAL DEMAND

Plaintiff demands a trial by jury on all issues permitted to be tried by a jury.

Dated: September 11, 2017 Respectfully Submitted,

STRIANESE HUCKERT LLP

By:/s/ Christopher R. Strianese, Esq.
Christopher R. Strianese, Esq.
NC Bar # 46918
chris@strilaw.com

401 North Tryon Street
10th Floor
Charlotte, North Carolina 28202
tel. 704-998-2577
Attorney for Plaintiff
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